##

**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

This is the direct appeal of a resentencing proceeding in which the First Judicial Circuit Court in and for Santa Rosa County, Florida, imposed the sentence of death on appellant Warfield Raymond Wike, Jr., for the crime of first-degree murder in the death of Sara Rivazfar. The Record on Appeal consists of ten volumes: four of record and six of transcript. References to the record shall be made as "R", and references to the transcript shall be made as "T".

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Mr. Wike was charged by indictment with first-degree premeditated/felony murder of Sara Rivazfar, kidnapping of Sara Rivazfar, kidnapping of Sayeh Rivazfar, capital sexual battery of Sayeh Rivazfar, attempted first-degree premeditated/felony murder of Sayeh Rivazfar. The crimes were alleged to have occurred on

or about September 22, 1988. R29-32. The trial court entered judgments of guilt as to all charges. Mr. Wike received the death sentence for the murder, and concurrent sentences of life imprisonment for sexual battery, 22 years' imprisonment for kidnapping, and 22 years' imprisonment for attempted first-degree murder. The convictions and prison sentences were affirmed on direct appeal, but the death sentence was reversed and remanded for resentencing before a new jury. Wike v. State, 596 So. 2d 1020 (Fla. 1992). On remand, the trial court reimposed the sentence of death, but this Court reversed and remanded for resentencing before a new jury panel. R1-28; Wike v. State, 648 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 1994).

The second resentencing, which is the subject of this appeal, took place before the Honorable Paul A. Rasmussen. Jury proceedings were held August 14-18, 1995. The jury returned a 12-0 recommendation of death on August 18, 1995. R482; T1149-53. The court entered a judgment of guilt, R538-39,<sup>1</sup> and imposed the death sentence on September 18, 1995. R500-13, 705-37.

In his sentencing order, the judge found four aggravating circumstances: (1) prior capital or violent felony conviction based on a Pennsylvania robbery conviction in 1974, and the attempted murder, kidnapping, and sexual battery of Sayeh ("prior

---

<sup>1</sup> The judgment was erroneously entered given that the original judgment was affirmed and only the sentence was reversed. Accordingly, this Court should vacate the judgment entered on September 18, 1995, as a nullity. Rhodes v. State, 638 So. 2d 920, 927 (Fla.), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 642, 130 L. Ed. 2d 547 (1994).

violent felony"), R503, 718-19;<sup>2</sup> (2) committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing lawful arrest ("avoid lawful arrest"), R503-05, 719-21;<sup>3</sup> (3) heinous, atrocious, or cruel ("HAC"), R505-06, 721-23;<sup>4</sup> and (4) cold, calculated, and premeditated ("CCP"), R506-07, 721-23.<sup>5</sup>

As to statutory mitigation, the judge expressly rejected extreme emotional or mental disturbance, R507-08, 725-26;<sup>6</sup> and that Mr. Wike's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired, R508, 726-27.<sup>7</sup> The judge may or may not have found age mitigation, giving his age of 32 "little if any weight," R508-09, 727-28. The judge may or may not have found age mitigation, giving his age of 32 "little if any weight," R508-09, 727-28.<sup>8</sup>

As to nonstatutory mitigation, the judge found the following mitigators: (1) Mr. Wike's deprived and traumatic childhood is entitled to little weight (factor includes his mental and/or emotional disturbance at an early age that went untreated; the emotional instability of his family during developmental years; he never felt a part of family and was deprived of family

---

<sup>2</sup> § 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1987).

<sup>3</sup> Id. § 921.141(5)(e).

<sup>4</sup> Id. § 921.141(5)(h).

<sup>5</sup> Id. § 921.141(5)(i).

<sup>6</sup> Id. § 921.141(6)(b).

<sup>7</sup> Id. § 921.141(6)(f).

<sup>8</sup> Id. § 921.141(6)(g).

nurturing; and he had a close personal relationship with his father whose sudden death when Mr. Wike was ten years old caused him emotional disturbance), R510-11, 730-31; (2) his history of alcohol and drug abuse is entitled to some weight, R511, 731-32; (3) being under the influence of alcohol at the time of the crime, although not corroborated, is entitled to little weight, R511, 731-32; (4) Mr. Wike maintained gainful employment prior to the crime, giving it little weight, R511, 732; (5) the current sentence of life imprisonment with a 25-year minimum mandatory before parole eligibility, combined with the court's authority to impose another such sentence consecutively, is entitled to some weight, R511-12, 732; (6) Mr. Wike's health problems are entitled to little weight, R512, 733; and (7) Mr. Wike's steadfastly maintaining his innocence is entitled to little weight in view of the conviction and evidence, R512, 733. The judge gave "little, if any weight" to Mr. Wike's mental and/or emotional disturbance developed as the result of his father's death and continuing through the date of the crime, or that he has led a troubled and emotionally unstable life in recent years, R511, 731. The judge also gave "little or no weight" to the fact that Mr. Wike has adapted well to prison life and can most likely continue to make a satisfactory adjustment to that life, finding his likelihood of future dangerousness to be "speculative at best," R512, 732-33.<sup>9</sup>

A timely notice of appeal was filed on September 26, 1995. R543.

---

<sup>9</sup> A copy of the written sentencing order is attached in the Appendix to this brief at pp. A1-14.



STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sayeh Rivazfar, eight years old at the time of the offenses, and her sister Sara Rivazfar, six years old at the time, were carried out of their Pensacola home and into a car at night by the appellant, a friend of their mother. T689-91. They drove off on a paved road and eventually turned onto a dirt road. When they stopped, the girls got out, relieved themselves, and reentered the car. T691-93. The appellant bound Sara's hands and legs. He took Sayeh out behind the car, took off her pants and underwear, and placed her on the trunk. He then pushed his penis into her vagina, injuring her and causing her to bleed. T693-96. Afterward, he dressed Sayeh, changed his own clothes, and placed Sayeh back in the car. T695-97.

They made contact with the driver of another vehicle, who conversed briefly with appellant. T697-98. Appellant then reentered his car and drove along on a dirt road. He stopped and took the girls out of the car, walking them into the woods. He put Sara down beside a tree, walked back to Sayeh with a knife in his hand, told her to say her prayers, and cut Sayeh's throat. She dropped to the ground. Sara started screaming. He walked over to Sara and cut her throat. T699-701. Sayeh did not actually see him cut Sara's throat, but she said she heard it. T704-05. Then he ran off. Sayeh got up, walked over to her sister, and saw that she was dead. Sayeh then walked out to the dirt road where she waved down people in a truck, who took her to a hospital for treatment. T701-02.

Sara's body was discovered lying face up in pine thicket. She was wearing a sweater and underwear. Her hands were bound together behind her with tape. T499-501. Her throat had been slashed. T509. The cause of death was multiple incised wounds of the throat, having been cut by a sharp knife. There was massive bleeding; the respiratory system was cut off; the knife actually removed the larynx or voice box from the throat area where it is normally attached; air leaked into the vein, went down into the heart causing the heart to stop functioning, and the blood supply to the head was cut off. At least six knife strokes were applied, perhaps more. T662-64. The resulting trauma would have taken about a minute to produce death. T664. Several superficial wounds inflicted would not have been fatal. The medical examiner could tell neither when the fatal wound was applied nor the order or sequence in which the strokes had been applied; but they would have been applied within a matter of minutes. T664-65. The wounds would have resulted in a rapid death. If the first stroke had cut the major artery, Sara would have been rendered unconscious in a matter of seconds. Sara would have experienced a lot of pain prior to becoming unconscious. T665-66.

Sayeh had been severely traumatized with a laceration to the anterior neck and a stab wound below it. The stab wound was the more serious of the injuries, stopped by the bone itself. It came within one millimeter of the carotid artery and within a millimeter of the jugular vein. T555-58, T594. She survived this trauma only by "The grace of God." T558. Sayeh also

suffered injuries to her vagina, which had a deep, irregular cut, like two cuts, from the front of the vagina close to the urethra and down to the rectum area. The trauma was consistent with having been caused by penetration of a penis but it could be consistent with anything else. T593-96.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

##### ISSUE I:

After years of dissatisfaction with counsel, and after the trial court rebuffed repeated attempts to substitute counsel before and during this penalty phase, Mr. Wike's personal feelings boiled over into a full-blown violent personal conflict that climaxed when he struck and pushed counsel in open court. As soon as defense counsel became Mr. Wike's shaken and embarrassed victim, Mr. Wike no longer had the presumptively loyal, zealous representation to which he was constitutionally entitled. Counsel properly sought to withdraw because counsel could no longer ethically and effectively represent Mr. Wike, but the trial court forced counsel to remain in the case. The prejudice arising from this violent personal conflict must be presumed, requiring reversal. Even if prejudice is not presumed, reversal is required because evidence of prejudice is apparent in the record, the trial court did not conduct a sufficient inquiry, and the trial court did not take sufficient remedial steps to attenuate the prejudice even if that was possible. See United States v. Hurt; Witherspoon v. United States; Government of Virgin Islands v. Zepp; Commonwealth v. Fontana; People v. Lewis; Gray v. Estelle.

ISSUE II:

The State proved the aggravating circumstance of prior violent or capital felony conviction by introducing judgments of conviction for the kidnapping, sexual battery, and attempted murder of the victim's sister, Sayeh Rivazfar, and an unrelated conviction. Nonetheless, the State presented fourteen witnesses in this resentencing proceeding including Sayeh herself; two doctors whose inflammatory testimony focused exclusively on the lurid details of Sayeh's extensive injuries, never even mentioning the murder victim; another witness who testified exclusively about Sayeh's suffering and experiences immediately after her sister's murder; and a host of other witnesses who testified in large part about Sayeh, her injuries, and evidence derived therefrom. Mr. Wike already had been punished for the crimes committed upon Sayeh. Although evidence concerning Sayeh had some relevance to the aggravating circumstances, the trial judge erroneously permitted the State to needlessly make the injuries suffered by Sayeh the feature of the penalty phase. This inflammatory evidence was unduly prejudicial, far outweighing its probative value, and it diverted the jury's attention from the murder of Sara, which should have been the focus of the State's case. See Finney v. State; Hitchcock v. State; Wuornos v. State; Duncan v. State; Rhodes v. State; Freeman v. State.

ISSUE III:

The judge failed to give any definition whatsoever of premeditation in the cold, calculated, and premeditated

instruction, a fundamental reversible error. See Anderson v. State; Rojas v. State; Jones v. State.

The judge attempted to give the vague and overbroad standard instruction as to the heinous, atrocious, and cruel aggravating circumstance, and in so doing he misread the instruction to enable jurors to wholly disregard an essential fact the State was required to prove. See Maynard v. Cartwright; State v. Dixon.

The instruction as to prior violent felonies enabled the jury to erroneously quadruple its findings and weighing of this single circumstance despite Mr. Wike's request for a limiting instruction. See Provence v. State, Castro v. State. It also erroneously directed the jury to find this circumstances proved, relieving the State of its burden and invading the exclusive province of the jury. See Wright v. State; Sarduy v. State.

The standard instruction as to the avoid lawful arrest circumstance was vague and overbroad, failing to tell jurors that it can be applied only in limited circumstance where the sole or dominant motive for the murder was elimination of the witness; that strong proof beyond a reasonable doubt also must be inconsistent with any other reasonable hypothesis; and that it cannot be inferred from speculation, proof of a plan to commit, or the actual commission of, another felony. Even if this Court's narrowing construction might clarify the statute in a case-by-case application, the instruction merely mirrored the statute and provided no guidance. See Maynard v. Cartwright. The constitutionality of the standard instruction should be

reviewed under the principles recently recognized in Jackson v. State.

Even though some of these errors may not have been preserved, the cumulative effect of giving erroneous, vague, overbroad, and misleading instructions to the jury as to each of the aggravating circumstances constitutes fundamental reversible error. See Anderson v. State; Rojas v. State; Kearse v. State; Jones v. State.

ISSUE IV:

The judge found the avoid lawful arrest aggravating circumstance despite the absence of evidence of motive, and the judge's ultimate findings were conclusory, speculative, and based on an erroneous standard. Although there is evidence as to what Mr. Wike's actions were and that he intended to kill, there is no evidence as to his motivation. He made no statements at the scene or afterward to give even a hint of motive, contrary to most cases where motive is proved. See Hannon v. State; Harvey v. State. The judge also did not consider other reasonable hypotheses to explain motive. See Knowles v. State; Arbelaez v. State; Klokoc v. State. Other cases on similar or worse facts, where the victims were transported to the places of their deaths, did not present evidence sufficient to find this circumstance proved beyond a reasonable doubt. See Jackson v. State; Dailey v. State.

The judge compounded the avoid lawful arrest error by doubling that circumstance with CCP even though both were

underpinned by the same aspects of the crime. See Provence v. State.

The judge also was ambiguous about his finding and weighing of three mitigating circumstances, thus making unclear whether he gave them appropriate consideration. See Campbell v. State.

These errors individually and collectively violated Mr. Wike's rights under the United States and Florida Constitutions to a fair penalty phase trial, due process, and his protection against cruel and/or unusual punishment.

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: WHETHER THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY REFUSED TO PERMIT COUNSEL TO WITHDRAW AFTER MR. WIKE'S VIOLENT, PHYSICAL, CRIMINAL ATTACK ON COUNSEL IN OPEN COURT, THEREBY DEPRIVING MR. WIKE OF THE ZEALOUS ASSISTANCE OF LOYAL, CONFLICT-FREE COUNSEL, AND A FAIR PENALTY TRIAL.

Many times before and during this penalty phase, Mr. Wike put the court on notice that he believed his appointed assistant public defenders had been ineffective and that he was dissatisfied with their performance. When his pleas of ineffectiveness continued to go unheeded, the problem degenerated into a personal conflict. The pot boiled over when Mr. Wike exploded, attacking defense counsel B.B. Boles by striking and pushing him in open court in the middle of the penalty phase. Defense counsel's role suddenly and dramatically changed from Mr. Wike's zealous advocate to his victim. Mr. Wike no longer had the representation of a presumptively loyal, zealous advocate to which he was entitled. Instead he was being represented by an openly shaken person upon whom he had committed a violent,

physical crime in public view. This was an extraordinary circumstance that required an extraordinary remedy. Counsel should have been permitted to withdraw, and substitute counsel should have been appointed. The trial court's decision to force Mr. Wike to proceed with the representation of a shaken and no doubt embarrassed lawyer upon whom he just committed a violent crime had the effect of depriving Mr. Wike of his constitutional rights to the assistance of counsel, a fair resentencing trial, due process, and protection against cruel and/or unusual punishment. U.S. Const. amends VI, VIII, XIV; art. I, §§ 9, 16, 17, Fla. Const.

**A. Factual background.**

Mr. Wike contended that he had long received ineffective representation from his assigned counsel, assistant public defenders B.B. Boles and Henry Barksdale, dating back to earlier proceedings in this case in which they had represented him. Due to the long-standing problem, he made a number of motions beginning with a pre-trial pro se motion to be co-counsel, R210-11 (filed June 23, 1995). He anticipated that his lawyers would refuse to ask relevant questions and file pertinent motions, giving rise to his need to act on his own behalf. R605-06. The court denied that motion, informing Mr. Wike that he had the right to waive counsel and seek self-representation. R606-13.

On August 8, Mr. Wike followed up that motion with a pro se motion to dismiss the public defender's office, R269-72, arguing, among other things, that his lawyers had inadequate contact with him, that they refused to subpoena a witness he thought would



provide relevant evidence, and that they had not furnished him with discovery materials. After inquiring of counsel at a hearing on August 11, the court found insufficient evidence of ineffectiveness to warrant discharge of counsel. R580-93.

On Monday, August 14, the first day of the penalty phase, just before the day's last witness testified, Mr. Wike renewed his complaints about counsel. He alleged that counsel refused to ask a series of questions Mr. Wike thought were important to show, at a minimum, that he had been wrongly convicted and that a State witness had changed her testimony from a prior proceeding. The court took his complaint as an allegation of ineffectiveness, inquired of Mr. Wike and counsel Boles, and ruled that no basis to discharge appointed counsel due to ineffectiveness existed. The judge also informed Mr. Wike of his right to self-representation, but Mr. Wike declined to exercise that right. T480-91. The judge also said "there is apparently a concern" about possible outbursts, and he said he would bring in a video camera if need exists. R491. However, there is no factual basis whatsoever in this record to support the judge's apparent concern at that time.

By Wednesday, August 16, Mr. Wike's problems with his attorneys reached the boiling point. In open court, in front of the judge and jury, Mr. Wike twice struck defense counsel Boles with an open hand and pushed him. T809-15.<sup>10</sup> After removing the

---

<sup>10</sup> A copy of the transcript excerpt featuring this incident and the ensuing colloquy is attached in the Appendix to this brief at pp. A15-54.

jury, the judge said "it was obvious to everyone that you just struck your attorney, sir." T809. Asked to show cause why he should not be held in contempt, Mr. Wike explained that he had had a conflict with his lawyers dating back at least until 1992; that he was being railroaded by his own attorneys; that his lawyers already had proved they did not know the law, evinced by the Supreme Court's decision expressly recognizing that his current trial counsel's failure to know a clear and long-established rule of criminal procedure applicable to the penalty phase led to reversal after the last case, Wike v. State, 648 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 1994); that counsel had refused to bring certain persons in to court to testify; that they had not asked questions he wanted asked; and that his pleas for different counsel had continued to fall on deaf ears. T809-12. The judge found Mr. Wike in direct criminal contempt because of the violent personal crime he committed on his attorney, sentencing him to 179 days' imprisonment consecutive to any other sentence he is serving. T812.<sup>11</sup>

Immediately after being struck, defense counsel moved to withdraw the public defenders' office from representation. T814. Boles stated that he could not ethically continue to represent someone who had just committed an act of physical violence on him in public, the first time he had seen that happen in his more than twelve years of practice. T815. "I don't think that I am injured, but certainly startled would be a mild way of putting

---

<sup>11</sup> No written finding, judgment, and sentence for contempt has been made part of this record.

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