IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 9 1996

OLERK SUPREMEDOURT f Bonuty Cherk

WARFIELD RAYMOND WIKE,

Appellant/Cross-appellee,

vs.

Case No. 86,537

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

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

THE COURT: Yes.

(T 1022-23) (emphasis added).

On appeal, Appellant claims that the CCP instruction given in his case was fundamentally erroneous because the trial court failed although it defined heightened define premeditation to (Initial brief at 46-50). This Court has premeditation. held, consistently however, that challenges to the constitutionality of this aggravating factor instruction are procedurally barred absent a <u>specific</u> objection or a proposed alternative instruction. E.g., Archer v. State, 673 So. 2d 17, 19 (Fla. 1996). As the record reveals, not only did defense counsel abandon his previous objection and accept the amended instruction, but his previous objection did not include the argument made on Thus, Appellant has failed to preserve this issue for appeal. review. Id.

Implicitly conceding as much, Appellant claims fundamental error. In <u>Archer</u>, the defendant claimed that the trial court committed fundamental error by failing to instruct the resentencing jury on reasonable doubt. This Court rejected Archer's claim, finding that the standard instructions appropriately held the state to its burden of proof, and finding no requirement that the jury be given a definition of the term "reasonable doubt." <u>Id.</u> at 20.

As in Archer, the trial court's failure to define

"premeditation" in this resentencing proceeding did not constitute fundamental error. The jury was instructed that the CCP aggravator required more premeditation than that for a premeditated murder conviction. Appellant having been convicted of first-degree murder, the jury knew that the fact of conviction was not enough, by itself, to support the factor; more was required. Thus, the failure to define premeditation does not mandate reversal.

Were this Court to find, however, that the trial court erred, perhaps fundamentally so, this aggravating factor should nevertheless be upheld. "[T]he record supports a finding that, beyond a reasonable doubt, the murder could only have been cold, calculated, and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification even if the proper instruction had been given." Id. at 19. Appellant drove to the Rivazfar's home in Pensacola with a blanket, tape, and a knife. In the early morning hours, he kidnaped Sara and Sayeh from their own beds, drove them to a remote area, taped Sara's hands behind her back, raped Sayeh, conversed calmly with Moes Bauldree when he came upon them, then drove them deeper into the woods, marched them into a pine thicket, told Sayeh to kneel down and "say a prayer," slit Sayeh's throat execution style in front of Sara, then slit Sara's throat, leaving them to die in the woods. Beyond any reasonable doubt, these facts support the CCP factor. Cf. Foster v. State, 654 So. 2d 112, 115 (Fla.

1995); <u>Hall v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 473, 478 (Fla. 1993), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 114 S. Ct. 109, 126 L. Ed. 2d 74 (1994); <u>Parker v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 134, 140 (Fla. 1985).

Even do they not, Appellant's sentence of death should nevertheless be affirmed. Three valid aggravating factors remain---"prior violent felony," "avoid arrest," and HAC. Given the circumstances of the murder and the unavailing nature of Appellant's mitigation, there is no reasonable possibility that the recommendation or the sentence would have been different absent the CCP aggravating factor. <u>See Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988); <u>Capehart v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 112 S. Ct. 955, 117 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1992). Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's sentence of death for the first-degree murder of Sara Rivazfar.

B. HAC

Prior to trial, Appellant challenged the constitutionality of the HAC aggravator, and the newly amended instruction. (R 123-41). At the hearing on the motion, defense counsel argued:

> I suggest to the Court that it is not going to be possible to sufficiently define the terms so that this aggravator will ever be constitutional. But even if there is a hope in the future that it will happen it has not been done yet. And this Court should declare the present aggravator unconstitutional.

(R 650). The trial court denied the motion without comment. (R

650).

Later, at the charge conference, defense counsel did not object to the language of the instruction, but merely requested that the following language be added to the instruction: "You are instructed that acts committed after the death of the victim are not relevant in considering whether the homicide was "especially heinous, atrocious or cruel" and that premeditation does not make a killing especially heinous, atrocious or cruel." (R 461; T 1018-22). The trial court denied the special instruction and asked if there were any other special instructions requested for the HAC factor. (T 1022). Defense counsel responded, "Judge, you know we requested a standard instruction and that's the law." (T 1022).

In this appeal, Appellant acknowledges that defense counsel ultimately requested the standard instruction, but claims that this Court should nevertheless address the merits of this issue "in the interests of justice." (Initial brief at 56). Moreover, Appellant acknowledges that this Court has previously rejected his vagueness argument to the amended instruction; yet, he urges this Court to reconsider. (Id.). In Whitton v. State, 649 So. 2d 861, 867 n.9 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 116 S. Ct. 106, 133 L. Ed. 2d 59 (1995), this Court reaffirmed the constitutionality of the amended HAC instruction and rejected Whitton's request to reconsider. As in Whitton, Appellant has not presented an adequate reason for this

Court to recede from its prior decisions.

In addition, Appellant claims that the trial court fundamentally erred by orally substituting "or" for "and" in the last sentence of the instruction. (Initial brief at 56-58). First, defense counsel did not object to the instructions as read, thereby precluding review of this issue. <u>See Archer v. State</u>, 673 So. 2d 17, 19 (Fla. 1996). Second, the jury was provided an accurate copy of the written instructions. Any error in the trial court's oral instruction (or the court reporter's transcription of the oral instructions) was cured by the written instructions. <u>See Rhodes v. State</u>, 638 So. 2d 920, 926 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 642, 130 L. Ed. 2d 547 (1995); <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>, 537 So. 2d 969, 970-71 (Fla. 1988). Therefore, Appellant's argument has no merit.

Were this Court to find, however, that the HAC instruction in toto, or as read, was erroneous, this aggravating factor should nevertheless be affirmed. This murder, under any definition of the terms, was heinous, atrocious, or cruel beyond a reasonable doubt. Sara Rivazfar was kidnaped from her bed, driven to a remote location, tied up, made a witness to her sister's sexual battery, driven deeper into the woods, taken into a pine thicket, made a witness to her sister's attempted murder, then nearly decapitated with a knife. Beyond any reasonable doubt, these facts support the

HAC aggravating factor. <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404, 409-10 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, 113 S. Ct. 1619, 123 L. Ed. 2d 178 (1993); <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 536, 540 (Fla. 1990).

Were it not properly found, however, Appellant's sentence of death should still be affirmed. Three valid aggravating factors remain--"prior violent felony," "avoid arrest," and CCP. Given the circumstances of the murder and the unavailing nature of Appellant's mitigation, there is no reasonable possibility that the recommendation or the sentence would have been different absent the HAC aggravating factor. <u>See Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988); <u>Capehart v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 112 S. Ct. 955, 117 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1992). Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's sentence of death for the first-degree murder of Sara Rivazfar.

C. Prior violent felony

Appellant made no pretrial challenge to the "prior violent felony" aggravator or instruction. At the charge conference, defense counsel merely requested a doubling instruction so that the jury would not consider Appellant's four prior convictions as separate aggravating factors.⁶ Based on counsel's proposed

⁶ Defense counsel's requested instruction, however, read as follows:

If you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed during kidnaping,

instruction, the trial court agreed not to instruct on the "felony murder" aggravator, thereby preventing the need for a doubling instruction. (T 1008-17, 1020).

At the beginning of the following day's proceedings, defense counsel renewed his request for a doubling instruction as it related to the "prior violent felony" instruction and objected to its exclusion. (T 1058-59). With the exception of that objection, defense counsel indicated that he was otherwise satisfied with the instructions as a whole. (T 1059, 1064).

In this appeal, Appellant claims error in the trial court's refusal to give a doubling instruction because the "prior violent felony" instruction, as given, failed to limit "the jury's discretion as to separately finding and weighing each of the four crimes as four heavy aggravating circumstances." (Initial brief at 59). Appellant's requested doubling instruction, however, related to the "felony murder" aggravating factor, which was not instructed on. Moreover, the standard instructions--as read and as written-clearly indicated that the "prior violent felony" aggravator was

(R 460).

attempted murder or sexual battery, this relates to a single aspect of the evidence. You may only consider this aspect as a single aggravating circumstance.

You are instructed that you are not to find two aggravating circumstances supported by the same factual matter or matters.

<u>one</u> factor which was proven by four prior felonies. There was no need, and certainly no requirement, that the trial court give a doubling instruction. Such an instruction typically cautions the jury not to find two separate factors based on the same facts. <u>See</u> <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 259, 261 (Fla. 1992). Thus, since the standard instructions accurately and adequately limited the "prior violent felony" aggravator to one factor based on four prior felonies, the trial court properly refused Appellant's doubling instruction.

Next, Appellant complains that the "prior violent felony" instruction as given improperly commented on the evidence, invaded the province of the jury, and relieved the state of its burden because it told the jury that Appellant's convictions for sexual battery, robbery, kidnaping, and attempted first-degree murder were capital or violent felonies. (Initial brief at 61-63). However, Appellant did not make this argument to the trial court; thus, he has not preserved it for review. <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

Regardless, it is without merit. The instruction does not tell the jury that the factor has been proven, it merely lists the offenses already established by the state which are legally considered a capital or a violent felony. The jury must still determine whether the State has proven that Appellant was

previously convicted of these offenses. Thus, the instruction is not erroneous, much less fundamentally so.

Were this Court to find the instruction wanting, however, Appellant's sentence should nevertheless be upheld. Three valid aggravating factors remain--"avoid arrest," CCP, and HAC. Given the circumstances of the murder and the unavailing nature of Appellant's mitigation, there is no reasonable possibility that the recommendation or the sentence would have been different absent the "prior violent felony" aggravating factor. <u>See Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988); <u>Capehart v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 112 S. Ct. 955, 117 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1992). Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's sentence of death for the first-degree murder of Sara Rivazfar.

D. Avoid arrest

Prior to trial, Appellant challenged the constitutionality of the "avoid arrest" aggravating factor on several grounds, including vagueness. (R 177-87). Regarding the standard instruction, Appellant alleged that it "merely tracks the unconstitutionally vague language of the statute, and is therefore itself unconstitutional." (R 187). No further argument was made at the hearing on the motion. (R 652). The trial court denied the motion without comment. (R 652). At the charge conference, the trial

court asked defense counsel if he had any complaints about the instruction. (T 1018). Defense counsel responded, "The proposed instructions. Judge, I don't think that I have a problem." (T 1018).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the "avoid arrest" instruction "merely mirrors the statute and provides no guidance." Specifically, he complains that

> the instruction fails to tell jurors that the aggravating circumstance can be applied only where the sole or dominant motive for the murder was elimination of the witness; that strong proof beyond a reasonable doubt also must be inconsistent with any other reasonable hypothesis; and that it cannot be inferred from speculation, proof of a plan to commit, or the actual commission of, another felony.

(Initial brief at 65). He concedes that he failed to object to this instruction at the charge conference, <u>and</u> that this Court has previously rejected this claim. (<u>Id.</u> at 66). He contends that this Court's decision in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994), compels reconsideration "in the interests of justice." (Initial brief at 66). However, he does not explain the compelling justification for reconsideration beyond his reference to <u>Jackson</u>. In <u>Jackson</u>, this Court held that the terms of the CCP instruction were vague. Thus, it defined the terms based on interpretation of them in case law. Here, as in <u>Whitton v. State</u>, 649 So. 2d 861, 864 n.10 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 116 S. Ct. 106, 133 L. Ed. 2d

59 (1995), the "avoid arrest" aggravator, unlike the CCP aggravator "does not contain terms so vague as to leave the jury without sufficient guidance for determining the absence or presence of the factor." Thus, as <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 112 S. Ct. 2926, 120 L. Ed. 2d 854 (1992), did not require a limiting instruction in order to make the "avoid arrest" aggravator constitutionally sound, neither does <u>Jackson</u>. Appellant has not established a compelling reason to reconsider <u>Whitton</u>, this Court should affirm his sentence of death.

Were this Court to find, however, that the "avoid arrest" instruction was erroneous, this aggravating factor should nevertheless be affirmed. Beyond a reasonable doubt, this murder, under any definition of the terms, was committed to eliminate a witness to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest. See Issue II, supra. Were the evidence insufficient, however, three valid aggravating factors remain--"prior violent felony," CCP, and HAC. Given the circumstances of the murder and the unavailing nature of Appellant's mitigation, there is no reasonable possibility that the recommendation or the sentence would have been different absent the "avoid arrest" aggravating factor. See Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988); <u>Capehart v.</u> State, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 955, 117 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1992). Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's sentence of death for the first-degree murder of Sara

Rivazfar.

E. Doubling instruction for CCP and "avoid arrest"

Appellant claims that the trial court fundamentally erred by not *sua sponte* giving a doubling instruction relating to the CCP and "avoid arrest" aggravators. (Initial brief at 67). Since Appellant neither requested a doubling instruction nor challenged the doubling of these factors in the trial court, he has failed to preserve this issue for review. <u>See Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902, 905 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert. denied</u>, 500 U.S. 938 (1991). Regardless, as explained in Issue IV, <u>infra</u>, these two aggravating factors were based on different facts. Thus, no doubling instruction was needed or required.

F. Cumulative error

Appellant claims that the cumulative effect of all of the erroneous instructions in this case fundamentally deprived him of a fair trial. (Initial brief at 67-68). The State submits, however, that no erroneous instructions were given. Even if there were, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt individually and cumulatively. Therefore, Appellant's sentence of death should be affirmed.

ISSUE IV

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